



# The Changing Geography of Hispanic Children and Families

Kimberly Turner, Elizabeth Wildsmith, Lina Guzman, and Marta Alvira-Hammond

January 2016

## Why research on low-income Hispanic children and families matters

Hispanic or Latino children currently make up roughly one in four of all children in the United States,<sup>a</sup> and by 2050 are projected to make up one in three, similar to the number of white children.<sup>b</sup> Given this, how Hispanic children fare will have a profound and increasing impact on the social and economic well-being of the country as a whole.

Notably, though, 5.7 million Hispanic children are in poverty, more than in any other racial/ethnic group.<sup>c</sup> Additionally, two thirds of Hispanic children live in poverty or near poverty, defined as less than two times the federal poverty level.<sup>d</sup> Despite their high levels of economic need, Hispanics, particularly those in immigrant families, have lower rates of participation in many government support programs when compared with other racial/ethnic minority groups.<sup>e-g</sup> High-quality, research-based information on the characteristics, experiences, and diversity of Hispanic children and families is needed to inform programs and policies supporting the sizable population of low-income Hispanic families and children.

- <sup>a</sup> Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics. (2014). *America's Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2014, Table POP3*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office. from <u>http://www.childstats.gov/americaschildren/tables.asp</u>
- <sup>b</sup> Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics. (2012). America's Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2012, Tables POP1 and POP3. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office. from <u>http://www.childstats.gov/</u> americaschildren/tables.asp
- <sup>c</sup> DeNavas-Walt, C., & Proctor, B.D. (2015). *Income and Poverty in the United States:* 2014, *Table B-2, Current Population Reports, P60-252*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Commerce, U.S. Census Bureau. from http://www.census.gov/ content/dam/Census/library/publications/2015/demo/p60-252.pdf#TableB-2
- <sup>d</sup> Lopez, M. H., & Velasco, G. (2011). *Childhood Poverty Among Hispanics Sets Record, Leads Nation*. Washington, DC: Pew Research Hispanic Center. from <u>http://www.</u> pewhispanic.org/2011/09/28/childhood-poverty-among-hispanics-sets-recordleads-nation/
- <sup>e</sup> Williams, S. (2013). Public assistance participation among U.S. children in poverty, 2010. Bowling Green, Ohio: National Center for Family & Marriage Research. from http://www.bgsu.edu/content/dam/BGSU/college-of-arts-and-sciences/NCFMR/ documents/FP/FP-13-02.pdf
- <sup>f</sup> Lichter, D., Sanders, S., & Johnson, K. (2015). Behind at the starting line: Poverty among Hispanic infants. Durham, NH: University of New Hampshire, Carsey School of Public Policy. from <u>http://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.</u> cgi?article=1250&context=carsey
- <sup>9</sup> Child Trends Databank. (2014). *Health care coverage*. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends. from <u>http://www.childtrends.org/?indicators=health-care-coverage</u>

The Hispanic<sup>a</sup> population in the United States has grown rapidly over the past few decades and continues to do so. In 2014, nearly 17 percent of the population was Latino,<sup>1</sup> almost double what it was in 1990.<sup>2</sup> By 2050, Latinos are projected to be one in four of all individuals in the United States, making up 26 percent of the general population.<sup>3</sup> As the Latino population continues to grow, it has become increasingly diverse across a range of individual characteristics, including nativity status, country of origin, and, among immigrants, citizenship status. Strides are being made to better document and understand the varied experiences of Hispanics.<sup>4–6</sup>

The communities in which Hispanics live are also increasingly diverse, both in location and character.<sup>7</sup> The characteristics of the communities in which Latino children and families live and grow up have implications for their well-being, both positive and negative. For example, the communities in which children and families live can determine the type and quality of schools that children attend, the availability of family and other social networks, the availability and accessibility of social services, access to healthy food and green space, and exposure to violence.<sup>8-12</sup>

In this brief, we review the changing geography of Hispanics in the United States. We also discuss the key demographic drivers of these changes.

#### Where Hispanics live

Hispanic and Latino are pan-ethnic terms used in the United States to identify individuals with Spanish or Latin American ancestry.<sup>13,14</sup> Notably, many Hispanics have lived in certain parts of the United States for centuries, with roots reaching back prior to statehood. Others immigrated to various regions across the United States or are descended from these immigrants. Because of this history, Hispanics have generally been concentrated in certain states and cities:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Throughout this brief, we use the terms "Hispanic" and "Latino" interchangeably. Both terms refer to individuals with Spanish or Latin American ancestry (i.e. heritage of Mexico, Puerto Rico, Cuba, etc.). Hispanic is used when reporting findings from federally support data sources.

- **The Southwest:** Many Hispanics live in the areas of the Southwest that became states in the 1800s—in particular, California, Texas, and Arizona. Nearly half (46 percent) of U.S. Hispanics, in 2014, lived in two states: California and Texas.<sup>15</sup>
- Gateway cities: Many Hispanics also live in cities that have served as arrival sites, at various points in time, for large numbers of immigrants from Mexico, Puerto Rico, and Cuba, among other countries. These include large urban areas such as Los Angeles, Houston, Miami, Chicago, and New York City.<sup>16</sup>

Since the 1990s, Hispanics have become increasingly geographically distributed across the United States. For example, some of the fastest growth in the Hispanic population between 1990 and 2010 occurred in North Carolina, Tennessee, and Georgia (See Figure 1).<sup>17</sup> Currently, cities in the Southeast, such as Charlotte, N.C., have the highest rates of Hispanic growth in the United States.<sup>18</sup> Moreover, Hispanics also increasingly live in different types of communities—that is, they are less likely to live in city centers and are more likely to live in rural areas and suburban towns.<sup>19-22</sup> Since 1990, the Hispanic population in rural areas of the United States has more than doubled.<sup>23</sup>

The Hispanic population is relatively large, and the movement of Latinos into rural and suburban areas alters the demographic landscape of the nation substantially. In contrast to older immigration patterns, some recent Hispanic immigrant groups have bypassed traditional urban gateway cities and have settled directly into rural and suburban



communities.<sup>24</sup> These newer patterns are playing a critical role in counteracting the population decline that has been occurring in many parts of rural United States.<sup>25</sup>

#### **Drivers of Hispanic geographic diversity**

A large body of research has focused on the changing geography of Hispanics in the United States and describes the types of communities in which Hispanics live.<sup>26–28</sup> Over the past few decades, these communities have been classified primarily based on three factors:

- the size of the Hispanic population,
- the rate of growth of the Hispanic population, and
- whether the area is rural, suburban, or urban.

*New* or *emerging communities* are umbrella terms that refer to communities that have experienced an influx of Hispanics since the 1990s.<sup>29-31</sup> Hispanics in established gateway cities are often compared to their counterparts in rural or suburban emerging destinations across ranging dimensions, including, for example, exposure to violence, residential segregation, and health.<sup>32-34</sup>

However, emerging communities can also occur in large cities that have preexisting Hispanic populations. For example, in New York City—a city with strong immigrant ties and well-established Puerto Rican and Dominican populations—the number of residents of Mexican heritage has increased six-fold since 1990, from about 56,000 in 1990 to 354,000 in 2014.<sup>35,36</sup> Thus, for Mexican-origin Hispanics, New York City is an emerging community.

#### What contributes to changing Hispanic communities and diversity

Three demographic factors contribute to the changing geography of U.S. Hispanics: immigration, migration, and childbearing. These same factors shape the Hispanic population of local communities, with important implications for programs and providers seeking to serve them. The following section details these sources of Hispanic population change and how each is linked to changing characteristics of Hispanic communities.

#### Immigration

Immigration is the movement of people from one country to another. In the United States, waves of Latino immigration have occurred at multiple times, from multiple countries, and for a variety of reasons. For example, the Bracero program facilitated the immigration of Mexican laborers to the United States to meet economic demands during World War II, and two major waves of Cuban refugees settled in the United States in the 1960s and 1980s.<sup>37</sup>



Over the course of the past century, Hispanic immigrants have generally settled in the urban core of "gateway" cities. However, since 1990, more Hispanic immigrants are settling directly in rural and suburban destinations in non-traditional areas.<sup>38,39</sup> This is largely due to changing economic and employment opportunities that have been advantageous in non-urban relative to urban areas.<sup>40</sup>

Hispanic immigrant flows to the United States have always been dominated by Mexican immigrants, and still are, though to a lesser extent.<sup>41</sup> For many years, this was followed by Puerto Rican migrants and Cuban immigrants.<sup>42</sup> However, the flow of immigrants from Central American countries (i.e., El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, etc.) has increased in recent decades. The number of Central American immigrants more than doubled in the 2000s, and those of Central American ancestry now account for 10 percent of the total population of Massachusetts, New Jersey, and Maryland.<sup>43,44</sup> Those of Salvadoran ancestry are now the third-largest Hispanic group in the United States, behind those of Mexican and Puerto Rican heritage.<sup>45,46</sup>

#### **Migration**

Movement of Hispanics—U.S.-born and foreign-born—within the United States is another source of growth and change in many communities. The pull of better economic opportunities draws both Hispanic immigrants and internal migrants to different communities.<sup>47-49</sup> Currently, over half of the Hispanics who settle in new and emerging communities stem from traditional gateway cities within the United States.<sup>50</sup> This movement contributes to rural and suburban growth. In fact, the growth in many rural areas over the past decade is due to growth in their Hispanic populations.<sup>51</sup>

#### Childbearing

When women, on average, have more than two children, the population grows, as opposed to remaining steady or decreasing. Recent estimates indicate that the total fertility rate for Hispanic women in the U.S. exceeds this number,<sup>b</sup> while fertility remains lower than this among non-Hispanic white women.<sup>52</sup> Fertility among Hispanics is higher in new and emerging destinations than it is in gateway cities, in part because foreign-born Hispanics, who are more likely than the U.S.-born to settle in these communities, have more children on average than do U.S-born Hispanics.<sup>53,54</sup> In addition, a greater proportion of Hispanics are in the family-building stage of life—in their childbearing years (ages 15 to 44)—than are their non-Hispanic counterparts.<sup>55</sup>

In 2014, over one fifth (23 percent) of all U.S. births occurred to Hispanic women.<sup>56</sup> Notably, fertility now contributes more than immigration does to the growth of the Hispanic population. This means an increasing proportion of Hispanic children are U.S.-born; in fact, over 90 percent of Hispanic children under age 18 were born in the United States.<sup>57</sup>

#### **Hispanic diversity**

To illustrate the changes in the Latino population that have occurred in recent decades, we look to three counties that have experienced Hispanic growth: Los Angeles County, Calif.; Gwinnett County, Ga.; and Mecklenburg County, N.C. These are very different communities. Los Angeles County is one of the most populous counties in the country and has historically been a gateway for Hispanic immigrants, with the size and share of its Hispanic population continuing to grow over time. Gwinnett County, comprised of suburbs of Atlanta, is the most racially and ethnically diverse county in the metropolitan area. Charlotte, N.C., is a southeastern city with high growth, and its combined suburban and rural communities are located in Mecklenburg County.

#### Table 1. Hispanic population's size, share, and growth, 2000 and 2014

County	2000 Hispanic population	2000 Hispanic share of population	2014 Hispanic population	2014 Hispanic share of population	Percent increase in hispanic population 2000-2014	
Los Angeles County, CA	4,242,000	45%	4,898,000	48%	15%	
Gwinnett County, GA	64,000	11%	180,000	20%	180%	
Mecklenburg County, NC	45,000	6%	128,000	13%	186%	
Sources: U.S. Census Bureau, 1990 Census and U.S. Census Bureau, 2014 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates						

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> A total fertility rate (TFR) of 2,100 births per 1000 women is considered to be replacement level. Recent estimates indicate that the total fertility rate for Hispanic women is 2,149 per 1,000 women. Non-Hispanic white and black women have below-replacement fertility rates—1,751 and 1,881.5, respectively.



Table 1 shows growth in the Hispanic population between 2000 and 2014, in the three counties of interest.<sup>cd</sup> In 2000, 45 percent of Los Angeles County residents were Hispanic. By 2014, 48 percent—close to half of all residents—were Hispanic. The Hispanic population in Los Angeles County increased by 15 percent (or about 650,000 Hispanics) in roughly one and a half decades. In Gwinnet County, the Hispanic portion of the population more than doubled in this time period, from about 64,000 Hispanics residents (11 percent of the population) to just under 180,000 residents (20 percent of the population). This translates to a growth of 180 percent. Similarly, between 2000 and 2014, the share of Hispanic residents in Mecklenburg County increased from 6 percent to 13 percent of the total population—a growth of 186 percent.

#### Table 2. Characteristics of Hispanics by county, 2014

County	Mexican Origin	Foreign-born	Speak English "Well"		
Los Angeles County, CA	77%	41%	65%		
Gwinnett County, GA	54%	50%	60%		
Mecklenburg County, NC	40%	52%	54%		
Source: U.S. Census Bureau. 2014 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates					

Table 2 shows the varying characteristics of Hispanics across these three communities, based on estimates from the 2014 American Community Survey.<sup>58</sup> In 2014, three out of four Hispanics in Los Angeles County were of Mexican ancestry, compared with just over half of Hispanics in Gwinnett County and 40 percent of Hispanics in Mecklenburg County (Table 2).<sup>e</sup> About half of Hispanics in Gwinnett and Mecklenburg were foreign-born, whereas 41 percent of Hispanics in Los Angeles County were foreign-born. Interestingly, even with half of Hispanics being foreign-born, over half of Hispanic residents in Gwinnett and Mecklenburg Counties report that they speak English well. In these newer communities, English fluency may be more critical to successful employment and social mobility than in gateway cities, where there are more Spanish speakers.<sup>59,60</sup>

Tables 1 and 2 illustrate some aspects of the diversity among Latinos in the United States. In Los Angeles County, a historical gateway, most Hispanics are of Mexican heritage and there is a continual influx of immigrants. This means that LA County has a consistently large immigrant population with enclaves—communities with distinct cultural identities that are, for better or worse, socially and economically integrated. Gwinnett and Mecklenburg Counties look quite different than Los Angeles and represent the growth of smaller communities that have proportionally more residents of Central American ancestry.

#### Implications of Hispanic population growth, change, and diversity

Where Hispanics live matters for the well-being of Hispanic children and families, as well as for the nation as a whole. The three demographic forces described above—immigration, internal migration, and childbearing—are working collectively to shape what Hispanic communities look like in the United States, and which communities Latinos live in. Since the 1990s, there is increasing diversity, by region and character, in the communities Hispanics live in, including substantial settlement in the Southeast and in rural and suburban communities.

Various stakeholders within communities often pay close attention to the makeup of their population in terms of gender, age, racial/ethnic composition, employment status, and educational attainment in order to identify community strengths and needs. The increasing diversity of Hispanics, across different types of communities, needs to be considered as well. The influx of Latinos in a community may present both opportunities and challenges. In rural areas, particularly those with aging populations, new Hispanic residents can help meet labor demands and stave off population declines. At the same time, a community



with a new Hispanic population may lack the infrastructure to provide culturally appropriate/sensitive human and social services, such as Spanish-speaking capabilities or translation services.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Hispanics of Salvadoran ancestry were the second-largest Hispanic group in Los Angeles and Gwinnett Counties, whereas Hondurans were the second largest group in Mecklenburg (results not shown).



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> County-specific estimates are derived from the 2000 decennial census and the 2014 American Community Survey 1-Year estimates, using <u>Social Explorer</u> and <u>American Fact-Finder</u>, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> County-specific Hispanic population estimates are rounded to the nearest thousand. The county-specific percent change in the Hispanic population between 2000 and 2014 is calculated using unrounded population estimates, and then rounded to the nearest whole number.

Hispanics that move within the United States—those who settle in one place then move to another—are more likely to be foreignborn than those who do not move.<sup>61</sup> Despite often being socioeconomically disadvantaged relative to their U.S-born peers, Hispanics adults who are foreign-born also have strong attachments to the labor market which can often provide critical social and economic supports.<sup>62,63</sup> Hispanic enclaves are now forming outside of gateway cities, but they may differ in important ways from more established Hispanic enclaves.<sup>64</sup> Specifically, traditional enclaves are more "linguistically isolated"<sup>f</sup> than those in new and emerging communities, given that they lack the cross-cultural interactions often necessary for employment in rural and suburban areas that would facilitate English fluency.<sup>65</sup> While dual-language learning can have emotional, social, cognitive, and economic benefits for children,<sup>66</sup> children may be disadvantaged by non-English-speaking parents' potential inability to navigate certain systems, such as education or social services.

Schools offer opportunities for social mobility for Hispanic children, providing the skills and social capital necessary for educational achievement and success in adulthood.<sup>67,68</sup> As one out of four children in the United States is Hispanic,<sup>69</sup> investments in Latino children are investments into the future labor force; it is important that children's services are able to meet the needs of Hispanic children specifically.<sup>70</sup> Furthermore, given that bilingualism is positively linked with children's development and academic performance,<sup>71</sup> communities with a critical mass of Latino students can offer curriculums for dual-language learners that are beneficial to Hispanic and non-Hispanic students alike.<sup>72</sup>

It is important to understand the characteristics of Hispanics who live in a range of communities, as well as the characteristics of the communities themselves. The interaction between characteristics of Hispanics and the communities in which they live has implications for the well-being and integration of Latino children and families.

#### Endnotes

- <sup>1</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2014 American Community Survey, 1-Year Estimates, Table B03003. Generated by Child Trends using American FactFinder. Retrieved from <u>http://factfinder2.census.gov</u>
- <sup>2</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. Social Explorer Dataset (SE), Census 1990. Generated by Child Trends using Social Explorer. Retrieved from <u>http://www.socialexplorer.com/explore/tables</u>
- <sup>3</sup> U.S. Census Bureau, Population Division. (2014). 2014 national population projections, Table 10. Retrieved from <u>http://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/2014/summarytables.html</u>
- <sup>4</sup> Wildsmith, E., Ansari, A., & Guzman, L. (2015). Improving data infrastructure to recognize Hispanic diversity in the United States. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends. Retrieved from <u>http://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Measure-Brief\_Final.pdf</u>
- <sup>5</sup> Logan, J.R., & Turner, R.N. (2013). Hispanics in the United States: Not only Mexicans. US2010 Project. Providence, RI: Brown University. Retrieved from <u>http://www.s4.brown.edu/us2010/Data/Report/report03202013.pdf</u>
- <sup>6</sup> Swinton, A., & Rivera, A. (2014). Survey data elements to unpack diversity of Hispanic populations. *Research Methods Brief #2014-30*. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from <u>http://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/opre/brief\_survey\_data\_to\_unpack\_hispanic\_final\_03\_27\_2014.pdf</u>
- <sup>7</sup> Brown, A., & Lopez, M.H. (2013). Mapping the Latino population, by state, county and city. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/2013/08/latino\_populations\_in\_the\_states\_counties\_and\_cities\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- <sup>8</sup> Crowley, M., Lichter, D.T., & Turner, R.N. (2015). Diverging fortunes? Economic well-being of Latinos and African Americans in new rural destinations. *Social Science Research*, *51*, 77-92.
- <sup>9</sup> Dondero, M., & Muller, C. (2012). School stratification in new and established Latino destinations. Social Forces, 127.
- <sup>10</sup> Crowley, M., & Lichter, D.T. (2009). Social disorganization in new Latino destinations? *Rural Sociology*, 74(4), 573-604.
- <sup>11</sup> Macintyre, S. (2007). Deprivation amplification revisited; or, is it always true that poorer places have poorer access to resources for healthy diets and physical activity? *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *4*(1), 32.
- <sup>12</sup> Santiago, A.M., & Galster, G.C. (2014). The effects of childhood exposure to neighborhood and community violence: Impacts on the safety and well-being of low-income, minority children. *Journal of Community Practice*, 22(1-2), 29-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> Linguistic isolation is a term used by the U.S. Census Bureau to indicate that no members of a household who age 14 or older speak English "very well," but all speak a language other than English.



- <sup>13</sup> Passel, J., & Taylor, P. (2009). Who's Hispanic? Social Studies and the Young Learner, 22(2), 29-31.
- <sup>14</sup> Zimmerman, R.S., Vega, W.A., Gil, A.G., Warheit, G.J., Apospori, E., & Biafora, F. (1994). Who is Hispanic? Definitions and their consequences. *American Journal of Public Health*, 84(12), 1985-1987.
- <sup>15</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. (2013). ACS demographic and housing estimates, 2009-2013 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05. Retrieved from <u>http://factfinder.census.gov/ http://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.</u> <u>xhtml?src=bkmk</u>
- <sup>16</sup> Suro, R. & Singer, A. (2002). Latino growth in metropolitan America: Changing patterns, new locations. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Center on Urban & Metropolitan Policy and Pew Hispanic Center. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/reports/10.pdf</u>
- <sup>17</sup> Ennis, S., Rios-Vargas, M., & Albert, N. (2011). The Hispanic population: 2010. *The 2010 Census Briefs, C2010BR-04*. U.S. Census Bureau. Retrieved from <u>http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-04.pdf</u>
- <sup>18</sup> Brown, A., & Lopez, M.H. (2013). Mapping the Latino population, by state, county and city. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/2013/08/latino\_populations\_in\_the\_states\_counties\_and\_cities\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- <sup>19</sup> Gozdziak, E.M., & Bump, M.N. (2004). Poultry, apples, and new immigrants in the rural communities of the Shenandoah Valley: An ethnographic case study. *International Migration*, *42*(1), 149-164.
- <sup>20</sup> Kandel, W., & Parrado, E.A. (2005). Restructuring of the US meat processing industry and new Hispanic migrant destinations. *Population and Development Review*, *31*(3), 447-471.
- <sup>21</sup> Parrado, E. A., & Kandel, W. (2011). Industrial change, Hispanic immigration, and the internal migration of low-skilled native male workers in the United States, 1995–2000. *Social Science Research*, *40*(2), 626-640.
- <sup>22</sup> Massey, D.S., & Capoferro, C. (2008). The geographic diversification of American immigration. *New Faces in New Places: The Changing Geography of American Immigration*, 25-50. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- <sup>23</sup> Kandel, W., Henderson, J., Koball, H., & Capps, R. (2011). Moving up in rural America: Economic attainment of nonmetro Latino immigrants. *Rural Sociology*, 76(1), 101-128.
- <sup>24</sup> Marrow, H. (2011). New destination dreaming: Immigration, race, and legal status in the rural American South. Stanford University Press.
- <sup>25</sup> Johnson, K.M., & Lichter, D.T. (2008). Population growth in new Hispanic destinations. *The Carsey Institute Reports on Rural America*. Durham, NH: Carsey Institute. Retrieved from <u>http://www.human.cornell.edu/pam/outreach/upload/Johnson-Lichter-Carsey-Brief.pdf</u>
- <sup>26</sup> Haverluk, T.W. (1998). Hispanic community types and assimilation in Mex-America. *The Professional Geographer*, 50(4), 465-480.
- <sup>27</sup> Lichter, D.T., & Johnson, K.M. (2009). Immigrant gateways and Hispanic migration to new destinations. *International Migration Review*, 43(3), 496-518.
- <sup>28</sup> Kandel, W.A., & Parrado, E.A. (2006). Rural Hispanic population growth. *Population Change and Rural Society* (pp. 155-175). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.
- <sup>29</sup> Haverluk, T.W. (1998). Hispanic community types and assimilation in Mex-America. *The Professional Geographer*, 50(4), 465-480.
- <sup>30</sup> Kandel, W., & Parrado, E.A. (2005). Restructuring of the US meat processing industry and new Hispanic migrant destinations. *Population and Development Review*, *31*(3), 447-471.
- <sup>31</sup> Lichter, D.T., & Johnson, K.M. (2006). Emerging rural settlement patterns and the geographic redistribution of America's new immigrants<sup>.</sup> Rural Sociology. <sup>71(1), 109-131.</sup>
- <sup>32</sup> Harris, C.T., & Feldmeyer, B. (2013). Latino immigration and white, black, and Latino violent crime: A comparison of traditional and non-traditional immigrant destinations. *Social Science Research*, *42*(1), 202-216.
- <sup>33</sup> Hall, M. (2013). Residential integration on the new frontier: Immigrant segregation in established and new destinations. *Demography*, 50(5), 1873-1896.



- <sup>34</sup> Jacquez, F., Vaughn, L.M., Pelley, T., & Topmiller, M. (2015). Healthcare experiences of Latinos in a nontraditional destination area. Journal of Community Practice, 23(1), 76-101.
- <sup>35</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. Social Explorer Dataset (SE), Census 1990. Generated by Child Trends using Social Explorer. Retrieved from <u>http://</u> www.socialexplorer.com/explore/tables
- <sup>36</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2014 American Community Survey, 1-Year Estimates, Table B03001. Generated by Child Trends using American FactFinder. Retrieved from <a href="http://factfinder2.census.gov">http://factfinder2.census.gov</a>.
- <sup>37</sup> Lopez, M.H., Passel, J., & Rohal, M. (2015). Modern immigration wave brings 59 million to u.s., driving population growth and change through 2065: Views of immigration's impact on U.S. society mixed." Washington, D.C.: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/2015/09/2015-09-28\_modern-immigration-wave\_REPORT.pdf</u>
- <sup>38</sup> Kandel, W., & Parrado, E.A. (2005). Restructuring of the US meat processing industry and new Hispanic migrant destinations. *Population and Development Review*, *31*(3), 447-471.
- <sup>39</sup> Cisneros, H.G. (2009). *Twenty-first century gateways: Immigrant incorporation in suburban America*. A. Singer, S. W. Hardwick, & C. Brettell (Eds.). Brookings Institution Press.
- <sup>40</sup> Gibbs, R., & Kusmin, L. (2005). Low-skill employment and the changing economy of rural America. *USDA-ERS Economic Research Report*, (10).
- <sup>41</sup> Brown, A., & Lopez, M.H. (2013). Mapping the Latino population, by state, county and city. *Pew Research Center's Hispanic Trends Project*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/2013/08/latino\_populations\_in\_the\_states\_counties\_and\_cities\_FINAL.pdf</u>
- <sup>42</sup> Passel, J.S. (2011). Demography of immigrant youth: Past, present, and future. *The Future of Children*, *21*(1), 19-41.
- <sup>43</sup> Brick, K., Challinor, A.E., & Rosenblum, M.R. (2011). Mexican and Central American immigrants in the United States. Washington, D.C.: Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from <u>http://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/mexican-and-central-american-immigrants-united-states</u>
- <sup>44</sup> Zong, J., & Batalova, J. (2015). Central American immigrants in the United States. Washington, D.C.: Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from <u>http://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/central-american-immigrants-united-states</u>
- <sup>45</sup> Lopez, M.H., Gonzalez-Barrera, A., & Cuddington, D. (2013). Diverse origins: The nation's 14 largest Hispanic-origin groups. Washington, D.C.: Pew Hispanic Center. Retrieved from <u>https://www.freelists.org/archives/colombiamigra/06-2013/pdfwgdpEXr1R3.pdf</u>
- <sup>46</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. (2013). ACS Demographic and Housing Estimates, 2009-2013 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates, Table DP05. Retrieved from <u>http://factfinder.census.gov/</u>
- <sup>47</sup> Kandel, W., & Parrado, E.A. (2005). Restructuring of the US meat processing industry and new Hispanic migrant destinations. *Population and Development Review*, *31*(3), 447-471.
- <sup>48</sup> Crowley, M., Lichter, D.T., & Turner, R.N. (2015). Diverging fortunes? Economic well-being of Latinos and African Americans in new rural destinations. *Social science research*, *51*, 77-92.
- <sup>49</sup> Kandel, W., Henderson, J., Koball, H., & Capps, R. (2011). Moving up in rural America: Economic attainment of nonmetro Latino immigrants. *Rural Sociology*, 76(1), 101-128.
- <sup>50</sup> Lichter, D.T., & Johnson, K.M. (2009). Immigrant gateways and Hispanic migration to new destinations. *International Migration Review*, *43*(3), 496-518.
- <sup>51</sup> Carr, P.J., Lichter, D.T., & Kefalas, M.J. (2012). Can immigration save small-town America? Hispanic boomtowns and the uneasy path to renewal. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *641*(1), 38-57.
- <sup>52</sup> Martin, J.A., Hamilton, B.E., Osterman, M.J.K., Curtin, S.C., & Mathews, T.J. (2015). Births: Final data for 2013. National Vital Statistics Reports, 64(1). Atlanta, GA: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/</u> <u>nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64\_01.pdf</u>



- <sup>53</sup> Lichter, D.T., Johnson, K.M., Turner, R.N., & Churilla, A. (2012). Hispanic assimilation and fertility in new US destinations. *International Migration Review*, 46(4), 767-791.
- <sup>54</sup> Martinez, G., Daniels, K., Chandra, A. (2012). Fertility of men and women aged 15-44 years in the United States: National survey of family growth 2006-2010, Figure 2, Table 5. *National Vital Statistics Reports, 51*(1). Atlanta, GA: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr051.pdf</u>
- <sup>55</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2014 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates, Tables B01001I, B01001H, and B01001B. Generated by Child Trends using American FactFinder. Retrieved from <u>http://factfinder2.census.gov</u>
- <sup>56</sup> Hamilton, B.E., Martin, J.A., Osterman, M.J.K., & Curtin, S.C. (2015). Births: Preliminary Data for 2014. National Vital Statistics Reports, 64(6). Atlanta, GA: United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/</u> <u>data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64\_06.pdf</u>
- <sup>57</sup> Murphey, D., Guzman, L., & Torres, A. (2014). America's Hispanic children: Gaining ground, looking forward. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends. Retrieved from <u>http://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/2014-38AmericaHispanicChildren.pdf</u>
- <sup>58</sup> U.S. Census Bureau. 2014 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates, Tables B03001, B05003I, and B16006. Generated by Child Trends using American FactFinder. Retrieved from <u>http://factfinder2.census.gov</u>
- <sup>59</sup> Saenz, R., & Torres, C. C. (2003). Latinos in rural America. *Challenges for Rural America in the Twenty-First Century*, 57-70.
- <sup>60</sup> Carnevale, A.P., Fry, R.A., & Lowell, B. L. (2001). Understanding, speaking, reading, writing, and earnings in the immigrant labor market. *American Economic Review*, 159-163.
- <sup>61</sup> Kritz, M.M., & Gurak, D.T. (2015). U.S. immigrants in dispersed and traditional settlements: National origin heterogeneity. *International Migration Review*, *49*(1), 106-141.
- <sup>62</sup> Camarota, S.T. (2012). Immigrants in the United States, 2010: A profile of America's foreign-born population. Washington, D.C.: Center for Immigration Studies. Retrieved from <u>http://cis.org/2012-profile-of-americas-foreign-born-population</u>
- <sup>63</sup> Hagan, J.M. (1998). Social networks, gender, and immigrant incorporation: Resources and constraints. *American Sociological Review*, 55-67
- <sup>64</sup> Lichter, D.T., Johnson, K. M., Turner, R. N., & Churilla, A. (2012). Hispanic assimilation and fertility in new US destinations. *International Migration Review*, *46*(4), 767-791.
- <sup>65</sup> Massey, D.S. (Ed.). (2008). *New faces in new places: The changing geography of American immigration*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- <sup>66</sup> Murphey, D., Guzman, L., & Torres, A. (2014). *America's Hispanic Children: Gaining Ground, Looking Forward*. Bethesda, MD: Child Trends.
- <sup>67</sup> Dondero, M., & Muller, C. (2012). School stratification in new and established Latino destinations. Social Forces, 127.
- <sup>69</sup> Stamps, K., & Bohon, S.A. (2006). Educational attainment in new and established Latino metropolitan destinations. *Social Science Quarterly*, *87*(5), 1225-1240.
- <sup>69</sup> Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics. (2012). America's Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being, 2012, Tables POP1 and POP3. Retrieved from <u>http://www.childstats.gov/americaschildren/tables.asp</u>
- <sup>70</sup> Lichter, D.T. (2013). Integration or fragmentation? Racial diversity and the American future. *Demography*, 50(2), 359-391.
- <sup>71</sup> Thomas, W.P., Collier, V.P., & Abbott, M. (1993). Academic achievement through Japanese, Spanish, or French: The first two years of partial immersion. *The Modern Language Journal*, 77(2), 170-179.
- <sup>72</sup> Collier, V.P., & Thomas, W.P. (2004). The astounding effectiveness of dual language education for all. *NABE Journal of Research and practice*, *2*(1), 1-20.



#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank members of Steering Committee of the National Research Center on Hispanic Children and Families for their ongoing feedback on this work, as well as Reanne Frank. Additionally, we would like to thank Claudia Vega her assistance with research.

#### **About the Authors**

Kimberly Turner, PhD, is a research scientist at Child Trends. Her research focuses on the interplay between family formation behaviors and racial/ethnic disparities.

Elizabeth Wildsmith, PhD, is the deputy director of the National Research Center on Hispanic Children & Families and a deputy program area director at Child Trends. She is a family demographer whose research focuses on family formation and racial/ethnic disparities in health and wellbeing.

Marta Alvira-Hammond, MA, is a senior research analyst at Child Trends and is a former research fellow for the National Research Center on Hispanic Children & Families. She is also a PhD candidate in the Department of Sociology at Bowling Green State University.

Lina Guzman, PhD, is co-principal investigator of the National Research Center on Hispanic Children & Families and co-leads its research area on healthy marriage and responsible fatherhood. She is a senior program area director and senior research scientist at Child Trends; she also serves as director of Child Trends' Hispanic Institute. Her research focuses on issues related to family formation and reproductive health among Hispanics and other racial/ethnic minorities.

#### **About the Center**

The National Research Center on Hispanic Children & Families is a hub of research to help programs and policy better serve low-income Hispanics across three priority areas—poverty reduction and economic self-sufficiency, healthy marriage and responsible fatherhood, and early care and education. The Center was established in 2013 by a five-year cooperative agreement from the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation (OPRE) within the Administration for Children and Families (ACF) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to Child Trends in partnership with Abt Associates and New York University, University of North Carolina at Greensboro, and University of Maryland, College Park. This publication was made possible by Grant Number 90PH0025 from OPRE. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of OPRE, ACF, or HHS.

Copyright 2016 by the National Research Center on Hispanic Children and Families

We welcome your feedback! Email us at <a href="mailto:info@HispanicResearchCenter.org">Info@HispanicResearchCenter.org</a>.

### HispanicResearchCenter.org





BOLD THINKERS DRIVING REAL-WORLD IMPACT







EDUCATION



